FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/24/2019 12:01 PM

97116-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

PAMELA JEAN WOODALL,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

Court of Appeals No. 50953-9-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 17-1-00715-1

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD M. ENRIGHT **Prosecuting Attorney**

RANDALL A. SUTTON **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Lise Ellner Po Box 2711

Vashon, Wa 98070-2711

Email: liseellnerlaw@comcast.net

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The petitioner is the State of Washington. The petition is filed by Kitsap County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney RANDALL A. SUTTON.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision in *State v. Woodall*, No. 50953-9-II (Apr. 2, 2019). No motion for reconsideration was filed. A copy of the Court's decision is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW¹

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the charging document was inadequate for not including language found in a separate definitional statute?
- 2. Whether the appellate preservation rule in *Kjorsvik* is wrong and harmful where every defendant is entitled to counsel, and the rule is primarily used as a "pocket issue" for appeal?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pamela Jean Woodall was charged by information filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, cause number 17-1-00715-1, with possession of stolen mail and second-degree possession of stolen property. CP 1. She subsequently pled guilty. CP 8, 14.

¹ The State notes that these same issues are presently before the Court in State v.

For the first time on appeal, Woodall challenged the sufficiency of the charging document. The Court of Appeals agreed with her argument and reversed the stolen mail conviction.

V. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE THREE OF THE CRITERIA OF RAP 13.4(B) ARE MET.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals because criteria (1), (3) and (4) are met.

1. The decision below conflicts with this Court's holding in State v. Porter.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's holding in *State v. Porter*, 186 Wn.2d 85, 90, 375 P.3d 664 (2016). At issue there was whether RCW 9A.56.140 "merely define[d] the essential element of 'possession' or instead provide[d] an additional essential element the State

must allege when charging a criminal defendant with possession of a stolen motor vehicle." *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 90. The Court ruled that the latter statute merely defined an element and therefore did not need to be included in the information. *Id.* As argued below, the situation in that case is indistinguishable.

2. Kjorsvik should be reformulated because it has failed to achieve its purpose of balancing the defendant's right to notice with the jurisprudential interest in preventing needless appeals.

If this Court determines that the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law, then this Court should reconsider its holding in *Kjorsvik*, which is both incorrect and harmful. As will be shown, this is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

It is well settled that a constitutional right, or a right of any other sort, may be forfeited in criminal cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it. *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 731, 113 S. Ct. 1770, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1993); *Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444, 64 S. Ct. 660, 88 L. Ed. 834 (1944). Good sense lies behind the requirement that arguments be first asserted at trial: it affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly on a matter before it can be presented on appeal. *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). There is great potential for

abuse when a party does not raise an issue below because it encourages partied to simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal. *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271-72, 149 P.3d 646 (2006); *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The rule also serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless expense of appellate review and further trials. *Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 749-50; *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988).

Nevertheless, the harshness of a blanket rule is ameliorated by the exception found in RAP 2.5(a)(3). Numerous decisions have fleshed out what constitutes a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." First, a manifest error is one "truly of constitutional magnitude." *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 688. Second, the defendant must show how the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights. It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest," allowing appellate review. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2010); *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 688.

Despite the applicability of this formulation to most unpreserved constitutional claims, the Court in *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 109, 812 P.2d 86 (1991), chose a different path for unpreserved claims

regarding the sufficiency of the charging document.² *Kjorsvik* first adopted the so-called "liberal construction" approach in Washington. Prior to that time, a claim that the charging document was insufficient could always be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn.2d 679, 691, 782 P.2d 552 (1989). In his concurring opinion *Leach*, however, Justice Brachtenbach expressed concerns that the rule could be abused:

I am disturbed, however, by the possibility that a defendant may be well aware at the outset of the proceedings that the charging document fails to state a crime, and yet maintain silence until appeal. When faced with the question whether an indictment sufficiently charges an offense, federal courts have held that "indictments which are tardily challenged are liberally construed in favor of validity."

Leach, 113 Wn.2d at 700 (Brachtenbach, J., concurring) (quoting United States v. Pheaster, 544 F.2d 353, 361 (9th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1099 (1977)). The justice added, however that this was an issue for another case. That case was *Kjorsvik*, which concluded that a "different standard of review should be applied when no challenge to the charging document has been raised at or before trial because otherwise the defendant has no incentive to timely make such a challenge, since it might only result in an amendment or a dismissal potentially followed by a refiling of the charge." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 103.

The State submits that the rule in *Kjorsvik* has also failed to satisfy

² RAP 2.5(a)(1) does not come into play because an inadequate charging document does not implicate the jurisdiction of the trial court. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 108.

the rationale for which it was promulgated. It is therefore both incorrect and harmful. *See State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 864, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). The *Kjorsvik* rule should therefore be modified to subject claims regarding the sufficiency of the charging document to the same standard applied to most other constitutional errors raised for the first time on appeal.

Kjorsvik has been the rule in Washington for nearly 30 years. Yet in just the 10 years before the decision below, appellate courts have vacated 34 convictions. State v. Woodall, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2019 WL 1490666 (Apr. 2, 2019) (instant case); *State v. Mellgren*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1035 (2018) (failure to allege premeditation in first-degree murder charge); State v. Torre, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1016 (2018) (underlying offense is an essential element of bail jumping; prejudice not considered); State v. Pry, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1013 (2018), review granted, 192 Wn.2d 1022 (2019) (review granted on Kjorsvik issue); State v. Mendoza-Vera, 4 Wn. App. 2d 1074 (2018) (intent element of luring); State v. Holcomb, 200 Wn. App. 54, 401 P.3d 412 (2017) (specific underlying DV offense of interference charge); State v. Garcia, 199 Wn. App. 1031 (2017), review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1032, (2018) (reasonable fear element of felony harassment); State v. Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. 314, 382 P.3d 736 (2016) (recklessness element of second-degree assault of a child); State v. McCrea, 195 Wn. App. 1038

(2016) (knowledge element of failure to register); State v. Tolentino-Cuevas, 194 Wn. App. 1001 (2016) (unlawful resident element of crime of alien in possession of a firearm); State v. Hernandez, 193 Wn. App. 1017 (2016) (alleged "withhold or appropriate" element of possession of stolen property), review granted and remanded, 187 Wn.2d 1001 (2017); State v. Tolman, 192 Wn. App. 1009 (alleged "withhold or appropriate" element of possession of stolen property), review granted and remanded, 186 Wn.2d 1008 (2016); State v. Nord, 188 Wn. App. 1032 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1003 (2016) (elements of resisting arrest that resistance was intentional or that the arrest was lawful); State v. Gibson, 187 Wn. App. 1031 (2015) (knowledge element of failure to register); State v. Smith, 187 Wn. App. 1010 (2015) (knowledge element of possession of stolen property); State v. Nord, 186 Wn. App. 1032, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1002 (2015) (willfulness element of eluding); State v. Satterthwaite, 186 Wn. App. 359, 344 P.3d 738 (2015) (alleged "withhold or appropriate" element of possession of stolen property), disapproved, State v. Porter, 186 Wn.2d 85, 375 P.3d 664 (2016); State v. Jones, 184 Wn. App. 1059 (2014) (addition of the word "attempt" in allegation of promoting prostitution); State v. Floyd, 178 Wn. App. 402, 316 P.3d 1091 (2013) (POAA predicate 1972 robbery conviction held facially invalid due to stating of elements of against the will of the victim and by force or threat of violence in disjunctive); State v. Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d 153, 307

P.3d 712 (2013) (identity of controlled substance in controlled-substance homicide); State v. Morfin-Camacho, 174 Wn. App. 1051 (2013) (reporting requirement of misdemeanor hit and run); State v. Anguiano-Alcazar, 169 Wn. App. 1019 (2012) (information purported to charge delivery of controlled substance but listed elements of possession with intent); State v. Rivas, 168 Wn. App. 882, 890, 278 P.3d 686, 691 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1007 (2013) (a common scheme or plan is an essential element of second degree malicious mischief when the State aggregates the value of damaged items of property in order to reach the statutory damage threshold; State failed to so allege); State v. Burns, 163 Wn. App. 1030 (2011) (failure to include element of first-degree robbery of taking personal property); State v. O'Grady, 163 Wn. App. 1003 (2011) (not including element that prior DUIs occurred within last 10 years fatal to charge of felony DUI); State v. Michael, 160 Wn. App. 522, 247 P.3d 842, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1015 (2011) (knowledge element of unlawful possession of a firearm); State v. Lira, 159 Wn. App. 1010 (2011) (correct value element of malicious mischief omitted); State v. Siers, 158 Wn. App. 686, 244 P.3d 15 (2010) (reversal of second-degree assault conviction due to failure to plead aggravating factor in information, even though no exceptional sentence was imposed), reversed, 174 Wn.2d 269 (2012); State v. Naillieux, 158 Wn. App. 630, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010) (failure to allege reckless manner and lights and sirens in

eluding charge); *State v. Brown*, 169 Wn.2d 195, 234 P.3d 212 (2010) (knowledge element of escape; rejecting Court of Appeals consideration of lack of prejudice); *State v. Barberi*, 155 Wn. App. 1045 (2010) (information alleged the wrong mens rea and omitted the actus reus of second-degree burglary); *State v. Gouley*, 150 Wn. App. 1060 (2009) (knowledge element of possession of a stolen motor vehicle); *State v. Marin*, 150 Wn. App. 434, 208 P.3d 1184, , *review denied*, 167 Wn.2d 1012 (2009) (underlying charge in bail jumping); *State v. I.A.O.*, 150 Wn. App. 1006 (2009) (official duties element of custodial assault).³

Of these reversals, in only a single case, *State v. Holcomb*, did the Court find prejudice to the defense. Thus, in just 10 years, the trial courts and the State have had to retry 33 cases without there have been any showing that he defendant was denied a fair trial. This is a cost to taxpayers and crime victims that is without any conceivable justification.

Perhaps even more demonstrative of why *Kjorsvik* is both incorrect and harmful is the number of *Kjorsvik* claims the appellate courts have *rejected* in the last 10 years. These cases highlight how *Kjorsvik* is seen by the defense as an ace up the sleeve. Shockingly, this Court and the Supreme Court have considered 185 meritless *Kjorsvik* claims in the last

³ Many of these cases are unpublished and a number are from before March 1, 2013. *See* GR 14.1(a). However, the State does not cite them for persuasive authority. It cites them only to demonstrate the number of cases that the appellate courts have considered under

10 years alone. State v. Hugdahl, Wn. App. 2d, 2019 WL
1494748 (Apr. 2, 2019); State v. Mulroy, Wn. App. 2d, 2019 WL
1223111 (Mar. 14, 2019); State v. Smith, W. App. 2d, 2019 WL
931748 (Feb. 25, 2019); State v. Merritt, 200 Wn. App. 398, 402 P.3d 862
(2017), aff'd, Wn.2d, 434 P.3d 1016 (2019); State v. Trent,
Wn. App. 2d, 2019 WL 720958 (Feb. 20, 2019); State v. Avalos,
Wn. App. 2d, 2019 WL 637239 (Feb. 14, 2019); State v. Garay,
Wn. App. 2d, 2019 WL 461567 (Feb. 6, 2019); State v. Warlick, 5
Wn. App. 2d 1039 (2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1020 (2019); State v.
Williams, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1027 (2018); State v. Chavez, 4 Wn. App 2d
1080, review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1007 (2018); State v. Negrete, 3 Wn.
App. 2d 1018 (2018); State v. K.M., 2 Wn. App. 2d 1046, review denied,
190 Wn.2d 1029 (2018) (rejecting claim that <i>Kjorsvik</i> applies to notice of
SSODA revocation); State v. Galvan-Serrano, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1029
(2018); State v. Ibrahim, 200 Wn. App. 1025 (2017), review denied, 190
Wn.2d 1010 (2018); State v. Padilla, 198 Wn. App. 1049 (2017), reversed
on other grounds, 190 Wn.2d 672 (2018); State v. Espinoza-Reyes, 198
Wn. App. 1041, review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1013 (2017); State v. Rezene,
198 Wn. App. 1030 (2017); State v. Hernandez, 198 Wn. App. 1019
(2017); State v. Jordan, 198 Wn. App. 1010, review denied, 188 Wn.2d

1022 (2017); State v. Parks, 198 Wn. App. 1007 (2017); State v. Delgado, 197 Wn. App. 1079, review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1014 (2017); State v. Watkins, 197 Wn. App. 1063 (2017); State v. Aquino, 197 Wn. App. 1041, review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1010 (2017); State v. Tolman, 196 Wn. App. 1074 (2016) (*Kjorsvik* claim rejected on remand from Supreme Court); State v. Perry, 196 Wn. App. 1037 (2016); State v. Donnette-Sherman, 196 Wn. App. 1038 (2016); State v. Hughes, 196 Wn. App. 1041 (2016); State v. Flores-Rodriguez, 196 Wn. App. 1033 (2016); State v. Ollison, 196 Wn. App. 1002 (2016); State v. Bowen, 195 Wn. App. 1043 (2016); State v. Goss, 189 Wn. App. 571, 358 P.3d 436 (2015), aff'd, 186 Wn.2d 372 (2016); State v. Porter, 186 Wn.2d 85, 375 P.3d 664 (2016); State v. Jenson, 194 Wn. App. 900, 378 P.3d 270 (2016); State v. Correa, 194 Wn. App. 1017 (2016); State v. Botello-Garcia, 193 Wn. App. 1037 (2016); State v. Allen, 193 Wn. App. 1034 (2016); State v. Stewart, 193 Wn. App. 1034 (2016); State v. Oleson, 193 Wn. App. 1018 (2016); State v. Grant, 192 Wn. App. 1067 (2016); State v. Taylor, 192 Wn. App. 1035 (2016); State v. Garoutte, 192 Wn. App. 1029, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1002 (2016); State v. Buurman, 191 Wn. App. 1044 (2015); State v. King, 191 Wn. App. 1036 (2015), review granted and remanded on other grounds, 185 Wn.2d 1025 (2016); State v. Parker, 190 Wn. App. 1037 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1026 (2016); State v. Lister, 189 Wn. App. 1040 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1019, cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 545

(2016); State v. Chacon, 189 Wn. App. 1013 (2015); State v. Hoefler, 189 Wn. App. 1001 (2015); State v. Larson, 188 Wn. App. 1028, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1015 (2015); State v. Parker, 188 Wn. App. 1001, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1022 (2015); State v. Shelley, 187 Wn. App. 1040 (2015); State v. Duggins, 187 Wn. App. 1030 (2015); State v. Irish, 186 Wn. App. 1040, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1023 (2015); State v. Sharples, 186 Wn. App. 1004 (2015); State v. Cornwell, 186 Wn. App. 1006, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1019 (2015); State v. Filitaula, 185 Wn. App. 1044, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1016 (2015); State v. Johnson, 185 Wn. App. 655, 342 P.3d 338, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1012 (2015); State v. Pierce, 185 Wn. App. 1037 (2015); State v. Pittman, 185 Wn. App. 614, 341 P.3d 1024, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1021 (2015); State v. Bunker, 185 Wn. App. 1021 (2015); State v. Lawson, 185 Wn. App. 349, 340 P.3d 979 (2014), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1177 (2016); State v. Cartmell, 184 Wn. App. 1035 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1025 (2015); State v. Hoang, 184 Wn. App. 1035 (2014); State v. Castillo, 184 Wn. App. 1025 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1023 (2015); State v. Stoker, 184 Wn. App. 1014 (2014); State v. Johnson, 183 Wn. App. 1030 (2014); State v. Grijalva, 183 Wn. App. 1021 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1007 (2015); State v. Campbell, 183 Wn. App. 1021 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1010 (2015); State v. Wallace, 183 Wn. App. 1023 (2014); State v. Darling, 182 Wn. App. 1041, review denied, 181 Wn.2d

1026 (2014); State v. Douglas, 182 Wn. App. 1039, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1026 (2014); State v. Phelps, 181 Wn. App. 1034 (2014), review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1030 (2015); State v. Goe, 181 Wn. App. 1010 (2014); State v. Horner, 180 Wn. App. 1048 (2014); State v. Hargraves, 180 Wn. App. 1024 (2014); State v. Sanders, 180 Wn. App. 1019 (2014), review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1015 (2015); In re Leck, 180 Wn. App. 492, 334 P.3d 1109, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014) (rejecting application of Kjorsvik to SVP proceeding); State v. Carpenter, 179 Wn. App. 1029, review granted and remanded on other grounds, 181 Wn.2d 1013 (2014); State v. Walksontop, 179 Wn. App. 1022, review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1017 (2014); State v. Moore, 179 Wn. App. 1006 (2014); State v. J.M.M., 178 Wn. App. 1040 (2014); State v. R.R.T., 178 Wn. App. 1043 (2014); State v. Lane, 178 Wn. App. 1037 (2013); State v. Baker, 178 Wn. App. 1010 (2013); State v. Williams, 178 Wn. App. 109, 313 P.3d 470 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1003 (2014); State v. Pimienta-De Sinner, 177 Wn. App. 1033 (2013); State v. Lindsey, 177 Wn. App. 233, 311 P.3d 61 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1022 (2014); State v. Maddaus, 176 Wn. App. 1031, review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1024 (2014), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 969 (2015); State v. Chipman, 176 Wn. App. 1017 (2013); State v. Locke, 175 Wn. App. 779, 307 P.3d 771 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1021(2014); State v. Howard, 175 Wn. App. 1068, review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1007 (2013); State v. Thomas, 175 Wn. App. 1032, review

denied, 179 Wn.2d 1006 (2013); State v. France, 175 Wn. App. 1024 (2013), aff'd, 180 Wn.2d 809 (2014); State v. Mohamed, 175 Wn. App. 45, 301 P.3d 504, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1019 (2013); State v. Mockovak, 174 Wn. App. 1076, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1022 (2013); State v. Dailey, 174 Wn. App. 810, 300 P.3d 834 (2013); State v. Pritchard, 174 Wn. App. 1059 (2013); State v. Sumaj, 174 Wn. App. 1052 (2013); State v. Craig, 174 Wn. App. 1053, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1011 (2013); State v. Phuong, 174 Wn. App. 494, 299 P.3d 37 (2013), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1022 (2015); State v. Conner, 174 Wn. App. 1014, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1004 (2013); State v. Durrett, 174 Wn. App. 1008, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1021 (2013); State v. Brewczynski, 173 Wn. App. 541, 294 P.3d 825, review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1026 (2013); State v. Hudspeth, 172 Wn. App. 1045 (2013); State v. Johnson, 172 Wn. App. 112, 297 P.3d 710 (2013), (information insufficient due to failure to include definition of restrain in unlawful imprisonment charge), reversed, 180 Wn.2d 295 (2014); State v. Embry, 171 Wn. App. 714, 287 P.3d 648 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1005 (2013); State v. Flores-Garcia, 171 Wn. App. 1016 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1028 (2013); State v. Martinez, 171 Wn. App. 1011 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1014 (2013); State v. Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271, 286 P.3d 996 (2012), aff'd, 180 Wn.2d 875 (2014), disapproved on other grounds, State v. Woodlyn, 188 Wn.2d 157 (2017); State v. Hollingsworth, 170 Wn. App.

1052 (2012); State v. Haynes, 170 Wn. App. 1034 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1025 (2013); State v. Walker, 170 Wn. App. 1033 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1021 (2013); State v. Mason, 170 Wn. App. 375, 285 P.3d 154 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1014 (2013); State v. White, 170 Wn. App. 1011 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1030 (2013); State v. Whitlock, 169 Wn. App. 1040 (2012); State v. Stoken, 169 Wn. App. 1036 (2012); State v. Nicia, 169 Wn. App. 1008 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1004 (2013); State v. Kosewicz, 174 Wn.2d 683, 278 P.3d 184 (2012) (declining to apply *Kjorsvik* to predicate crime); *State v*. White, 168 Wn. App. 1016 (2012); State v. Pagel, 168 Wn. App. 1005, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012); State v. Wintch, 167 Wn. App. 1038, 175 Wn.2d 1020 (2012); State v. Viles, 167 Wn. App. 1029 (2012); State v. Branham, 167 Wn. App. 1030, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1007 (2012); State v. Harris, 167 Wn. App. 340, 272 P.3d 299, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1006 (2012); State v. Edwards, 166 Wn. App. 1036 (2012); State v. Hazelmyer, 166 Wn. App. 1034 (2012); State v. Divsar, 166 Wn. App. 1030, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1010 (2012); State v. Wedemeyer, 165 Wn. App. 1026, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1006 (2012); State v. Aulis, 165 Wn. App. 1011 (2011); State v. Kiliona-Garramone, 166 Wn. App. 16, 267 P.3d 426 (2011), review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1014 (2012) (reversing trial court's half-time dismissal); State v. Peterson, 164 Wn. App. 1044 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1028 (2012); State v.

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