FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/29/2019 10:04 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97116-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON					
STATE OF WASHINGTON,					
Petitioner,					
٧.					
Pamela Woodall, Respondent.					
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW					

LISE ELLNER Attorney for Respondent

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER Post Office Box 2711 Vashon, WA 98070 (206) 930-1090 WSB #20955

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

In addition to the following argument, Pamela Woodall adopts the arguments set forth in his opening brief.

1. This Court Should Deny Review

This court should deny review because the state's petition does not meet the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) provides in relevant part as follows:

- (b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:
- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

The state's petition does not meet any of the above criteria.

Specifically, the state's claim that *State v. Woodall* conflicts with *Porter*, is incorrect. *Porter* acknowledged that the definition of "possession" in RCW 9A.56.140(1) almost identical for possession of a stolen vehicle and possession of stolen mail statutes. *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 87-88 (*citing and quoting*, RCW 9A.56.068; 9A.56.380). RCW 9A.56.140(1) defines "possessing stolen property" as to, "knowingly to receive, retain, possess, conceal, or dispose of stolen property knowing that it has been stolen and to withhold or appropriate the same to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto." This definition is almost identical to RCW 9A.56.380(2) - charged in Woodall's case. CP 1-6.

In *Porter* the prosecutor charged the defendant with "unlawfully and feloniously *knowingly* possess[ing] a stolen motor vehicle" but it did *not* state that possession includes "to 'withhold or appropriate [stolen property] to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto." *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 88 (emphasis added) (alternation in original) (quoting RCW

9A.56.140(1)).

Porter held that the charging document was constitutionally sufficient because to "withhold or appropriate" merely "define[d] and limit[ed] the scope of the essential elements of the crime of unlawful possession of a stolen motor vehicle." *Id.* at 91. The court emphasized that the charging document "sufficiently articulated the essential elements of the crime for which Porter was charged, making further elaboration of what it mean[t] to unlawfully possess stolen property unnecessary." *Id.* at 92. *Porter* clarified that "the knowledge element of possession of stolen property is an essential element." (Emphasis added). *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 93.

The state's petition falsely claims that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with *Porter*, when in fact, the holding in *Porter* is not a new concept and precisely on point in Woodall's case, requiring reversal for the state's failure to include the essential element of "knowledge" in the charging document. *See, State v. Moavenzadeh*, 135 Wn.2d 359, 363, 956 P.2d 1097 (1998) (This Court reversed a defendant's conviction when an information charging three counts of first degree possession of stolen property

"contain[ed] no language which c[ould] fairly be read to allege that [the defendant] knew the property was stolen.").

Here, it is undisputed, that the state failed to allege in the charging document that Woodall "knowingly" possessed stolen mail. CP 1-6. The Court of Appeals in *Woodall*, correctly held that under *Porter* and *Moavenzadeh*,, the language " "knowingly" is an essential element of the charge of possession in RCW 9A.56.380(1), the state must allege in the charging document. The state's failure to include this essential element correctly required reversal of the conviction. *Woodall*, opinion at pp. 7-8.

Rather than accept responsibility for making a mistake in the charging document in Woodall's case, the state argues that cases upholding the constitutionality of providing a defendant with fair novice should be abandoned. (State's Petition for Review at 3-20). Specifically, the state attacks *Kjorsvik* on grounds that defense counsel (in general) use the *Kjorsvik* opinion for "sandbagging". (State's Petition for Review at 20).

This is an offensive claim when considering that the right of a defendant to be informed of the charges against her derives from the constitution, and this Court has repeatedly provided guidance on this issue. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22; Porter, 186 Wn.2d at 89; State v. Johnson, 180 Wn.2d 295, 300, 325 P.3d 135 (2014); State v. Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013); State v. Ward, 148 Wn.2d 803, 811, 64 P.3d 640 (2003); State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995); Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105-06. Further, CrR 2.1(a)(1) mandates that a charging document" shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." Id.

There is no conceivable construction under our state constitution or any of this Court's decisions to support the state's claim that the absence of the essential element "knowledge" provided Woodall with her constitutional right to be fairly apprised of the charges against her. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; art. I, § 22.

In sum, the underbelly of the state's argument must fail; that this Court should craft an opinion to immunize the state's failure to do its job: here, to provide constitutionally adequate notice in a charging document. P4R____.

In a perfect world, where attorneys are not over worked, and all are exceptionally well trained, it would certainly be beneficial if

the prosecution understood how to craft a constitutionally adequate charging document and defense counsel was able to hold the state to this responsibility, but on occasion the state fails, and defense counsel does not catch the failure until appellate review.

The trial attorneys' failures do not however undermine the defendants' constitutional right to fair notice, and it is precisely appellate counsels' obligation to point out errors to the reviewing courts so the appellate courts may correct the errors to uphold defendants' constitutional rights. Art. I, § 22 (amendment 10) grants not a mere privilege but a "right to appeal in all cases". *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978) (*quoting State v. Schoel*, 54 Wn.2d 388, 392, 341 P.2d 481 (1959)).

"Appointed counsel on appeal has a duty to raise and conscientiously advocate nonfrivolous arguments on behalf of his client. "State v. Woods, 34 Wn. App. 750, 762-63, 665 P.2d 895 (1983) (quoting, Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 741-42, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1966)). See also Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 796, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963) (quoting Sixth Amendment: 'the accused shall enjoy the right * * * to

have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence'1 was made obligatory on the States by the Fourteenth Amendment).

Here the Court of Appeals correctly reversed Woodall's conviction where the state failed to provide Woodall with constitutionally adequate notice of the charges against her, and appellate counsel identified this error on appeal.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons stated herein and in the opening brief, this Court should deny review.

DATED THIS 29th day of April 2019.

Respectfully submitted,

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER

Linth

LIGE ELLNED MODA COSE

LISE ELLNER, WSBA 20955 Attorney for Respondent

1 original

I, Lise Ellner, a person over the age of 18 years of age, served the Kitsap County Prosecutor's Office kcpa@co.kitsap.wa.us and Pamela Woodall, DOC#791137, Washington Corrections Center for Women, 9601 Bujacich Rd. NW, Gig Harbor, WA 98332 on April 29, 2019. Service was made electronically to the prosecutor and to Pamela Woodall by depositing in the mails of the United States of America, properly stamped and addressed.

LinEN	
	Signature

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER

April 29, 2019 - 10:04 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 97116-1

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Pamela Jean Woodall

Superior Court Case Number: 17-1-00715-1

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 971161_Answer_Reply_20190429100249SC361838_1917.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was Woodall Answer to P4R .pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• KCPA@co.kitsap.wa.us

• rsutton@co.kitsap.wa.us

Comments:

Sender Name: Lise Ellner - Email: liseellnerlaw@comcast.net

Address:

PO BOX 2711

VASHON, WA, 98070-2711

Phone: 206-930-1090

Note: The Filing Id is 20190429100249SC361838